

# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

**Sudbury Scuba Club (The Club) - branch number 0568 of the British Sub-Aqua Club**

**As agreed at The Club AGM on 13<sup>th</sup> November 2024**

## **1. Scope**

These byelaws shall regulate the structure, administration and activities of a Branch of the British Sub-Aqua Club to be known as Sudbury Scuba Club Branch 0568 (The Club). These byelaws are made in compliance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association of the British Sub-Aqua Club.

## **2. Membership**

- i. All persons who assist with The Club activities must be a member of BSAC.
- ii. BSAC is a members' organisation and all members, by accepting membership, agree to abide by the rules, regulations and policies of the organisation. Members agree to follow the Code of Conduct and failure to do so may result in disciplinary or other action being taken. A copy of BSAC's Code of Conduct is at Appendix A of these byelaws and can also be found at [bsac.com/codeofconduct](https://bsac.com/codeofconduct).
- iii. Anyone joining or rejoining The Club must pay the appropriate BSAC membership fees and The Club membership fees.
- iv. The right to vote at The Club meetings shall be restricted to members who hold a current annual Sudbury Scuba Club and BSAC membership, having paid the appropriate fees.

## **3. Management**

The Club shall adopt byelaws not in conflict with the Articles of Association of BSAC in such form as The Club may approve, which provide for:

- i. The management of the Branch which shall be vested in a committee (of which the majority shall be 18 years or over):
  - a. In the case of an Ordinary or Snorkelling Branch, elected and consisting of at least five members of which the officers shall be Chair, Secretary, Treasurer and Diving Officer.
  - b. In the case of a Special Branch in a committee of which the officers shall be Chair, Secretary, Treasurer and Diving Officer.
- ii. An Annual General Meeting of The Club and the Business thereof.
- iii. The dissolution of The Club.
- iv. The suspension of Club members from taking part in activities of The Club subject to a right of appeal to the members of The Club in a general meeting.
- v. Other matters as necessary for the proper management of The Club's affairs.

**BSAC Branch 0568 – Byelaws | Updated November 2024**

BSAC, Telford's Quay, South Pier Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire CH65 4FL  
+44 (0)151 350 6200 | [info@bsac.com](mailto:info@bsac.com) | [bsac.com](https://bsac.com) | [@BSACDIVERS](https://twitter.com/BSACDIVERS)



# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

## 4. Annual General Meeting (AGM)

- i. The Annual General Meeting of The Club shall be held in November each year. Notice of the meeting and the agenda shall be distributed to all paid-up members of The Club 4 weeks before the meeting.
- ii. The Notice shall identify those members of the committee who are standing again and shall request nominations for officers and the committee. Committee members standing again shall be deemed to have been nominated by the committee.
- iii. To be valid, nominations not deemed to have been made by the committee must be
  - a. delivered to the Secretary in writing at least fourteen (14) days before the meeting,
  - b. seconded and
  - c. endorsed by the nominee to the effect that they are willing to accept the position if they are elected.
- iv. The Officers and general members of the committee shall be elected at the meeting by ballot. If a nominee stands unopposed, they shall be deemed to have been elected.
- v. The Notice shall also include the text of any motion proposed by the committee. Any member may propose amendments to such motion and may make any further motion for consideration at the meeting, but such amendments and further motions must be proposed and seconded in writing and delivered to the Secretary no less than fourteen (14) days before the meeting.
- vi. At least 10% of the Branch's membership entitled to vote at the meeting should be required for a quorum, but a quorum once formed shall not be lost despite the departure from the meeting of any member or members.
- vii. The right to vote at the meeting shall be restricted to members who hold a current annual Club and BSAC membership, having paid the appropriate fees.

## 5. Special General Meeting

- i. Any General Meeting of The Club other than the Annual General meeting shall be known as a Special General Meeting.
- ii. The committee may call a Special General Meeting at any time upon giving no less than fourteen (14) days written notice to all paid-up members. The Notice shall state the reasons for the meeting and shall include the text of any motion proposed for consideration. Amendments to such motion may be proposed at the meeting.
- iii. The committee shall call a Special General Meeting upon receipt of a request to do so signed by no less than 25% of paid-up members, provided that the request states the reason and contains the text of at least one motion proposed for consideration. The provisions of the preceding paragraph shall apply with regard to the conduct of the meeting.

# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

iv. Following expulsion of a member of The Club under disciplinary action 9 (ii), the expelled member has the right to demand an SGM to appeal their expulsion from The Club. On receipt of the request, the committee shall call a Special General Meeting to be held within 30 days of the request and giving no less than fourteen (14) days written notice to all paid-up members (who were paid up at the time of the request). The notice of the meeting shall state the reasons for the expulsion and any grounds on which the appeal is being made.

Conduct of a disciplinary appeal SGM shall involve:

- a. Statement of the reasons for the disciplinary action by the committee
- b. An opportunity for the excluded member to state their case to be allowed to continue in The Club
- c. A vote to be conducted as defined in the provisions of byelaw 6 (ii)
- v. The business of a Special General Meeting shall be that for which it was called and no other.
- vi. The provisions of byelaws 4 (vi) and (vii) shall apply to Special General Meetings.

## 6. Voting

i. Subject to the provisions of byelaws 4 (vii) and 10 (ii) and of the succeeding paragraph, voting on any given motion at a General Meeting shall be by show of hands or by ballot, as the Chair may decide and motions shall be carried by the votes of a simple majority of voting members present.

ii. Subject to the provisions of byelaw 5 (iv) a vote to agree to uphold an appeal by an expelled member must be conducted by a secret ballot and shall require to be carried by at least a two-thirds majority of votes cast by not less than 10% of the members of The Club entitled to vote at General Meetings.

iii. Subject to byelaw 11, a motion to alter these byelaws shall only be carried by at least a two-thirds majority of votes cast by not less than 10% of the members of The Club entitled to vote at General Meetings. Such motion may be voted upon in General Meeting or by postal ballot of all voting members.

iv. Except as provided in byelaws 10 and 11, the committee may put any motion to the voting membership at any time by postal ballot.

a. Voting papers for such ballot shall be sent to all paid-up members not less than fourteen (14) days before the date on which the votes are to be counted. A motion put to postal ballot shall only be carried by a majority of votes cast by not less than 10% of the members of The Club entitled to vote at General Meetings.

# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

## 7. Committee

- i. The appointed committee member should take their position upon election and remain until their successors have been elected.
- ii. The committee shall have the power to fill a vacancy amongst the officers of The Club or amongst the rest of the committee's membership which occurs during their term of office, and any person newly appointed to the committee to fill such vacancy shall become a full voting member thereof.
- iii. A simple majority of voting committee members shall form a quorum for a meeting; provided, however, that no quorum shall be formed without the presence of either the Chair, or the Secretary. A quorum once formed shall not be lost even though, as a result of the departure of a member during the meeting, the number of voting members falls below the number required to open the meeting.
- iv. The committee may adopt no resolution unless:
  - a. It has the votes of a simple majority of those members present and entitled to vote.**AND**
  - b. The number of such votes is at least equal to a simple majority of the number of members required to open the meeting at which the resolution is proposed.
- v. No member shall be entitled to vote on a matter in which their interest differs from that of The Club as a whole, and they shall withdraw from any meeting during the period of discussion of such interest.
- vi. Any Officer shall have the power to require the Secretary to call a meeting of the committee at any time.

## 8. Branch Activities

- i. At the discretion of the Diving Officer (DO), The Club diving and open-water training activities shall be open to members of other clubs / branches and to guests.
- ii. At the discretion of the official in charge of the session, pool activities shall be open to members of other clubs / branches and to guests. No-one shall use any equipment without prior approval of the official in charge of the session.
- iii. Any club member booking a place on a club trip must be a current member of BSAC. Any individual who is not a member of The Club may participate in undersubscribed club trips at the discretion of the Diving Officer, or by approval of the committee. Once the deposit has been paid for a trip, the participant is liable for the full payment of the trip. If a participant has to withdraw from a trip, full payment will be required, unless another member or DO approved individual can take their place. The committee can vote to waive the cost of a trip in extenuating circumstances.
- iv. If a participant damages or loses Club equipment, the committee may charge the person concerned the cost of repairing or replacing it.
- v. If a participant damages or loses private property used in connection with Club activities, if the issue is not privately resolved, the Committee may mediate to find a resolution to repair or replace the affected items.

# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

## 9. Discipline

- i. Temporary suspension from participation:
  - a. The person in charge of a Club activity may suspend, at their discretion and for the duration of the activity, any member who misconducts themselves. Any such suspension shall be reported as soon as possible to the Chair or Secretary and shall be discussed at the next meeting of the committee.
  - b. The committee shall first discuss the incident without the presence of the member in question and then shall invite them to join the discussion and explain their view of the matter.
- ii. Suspension and loss of membership:
  - a. The committee shall have the power by a two-thirds majority of all current voting members to suspend the membership of any member of The Club. Suspension of the membership of any officer or other committee member shall be dealt with in accordance with the provisions of the next sub-clause. A decision to suspend shall be immediately communicated to the member concerned, and their membership shall be suspended. A suspended member shall be entitled to demand a hearing at the next regular meeting of the committee during which the reasons for the suspension shall be made fully known and they shall be given the opportunity to answer fully the charges against them. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the member shall leave the meeting and the committee shall vote again on the suspension. If the requisite two-thirds majority does not carry the motion, the suspension shall be lifted and the member shall be informed accordingly. If the motion is carried again by the said majority, the member shall be informed and they shall be deemed to have resigned their membership in The Club. The member affected shall have the right to appeal the decision of the committee to the next General Meeting of The Club. In that regard only, they shall have the rights of a paid-up member.
  - b. Suspension of the membership of an Officer or general committee member shall only be voted upon at a meeting where the agenda has [a] been posted or distributed to all committee members at least one week prior to the meeting and [b] explicitly refers to the motion of suspension. If the person charged attends the meeting, they shall be entitled to hear and respond to the charges levied against them. When the Chair of the meeting is satisfied that the matter has been adequately and fairly discussed, the person charged shall leave the meeting and a vote shall be taken. If the proposal to suspend is carried by the requisite two-thirds majority, the person charged shall be deemed to have resigned their membership in The Club, and they shall have the right of appeal provided for in the preceding paragraph. If the person charged does not attend the meeting, the provisions of the preceding paragraph shall apply.

# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

## 10. Dissolution

- i. The Club may not be dissolved except pursuant to a vote taken at a General Meeting; provided, however, that dissolution may be put to a vote at an Annual General Meeting only if it appears on the agenda provided for in byelaw 4 (i).
- ii. A proposal to dissolve The Club shall be subject to ballot and, in order to be carried, it must receive the votes of two-thirds of the voting members of The Club who are present at the Meeting.
- iii. If dissolution of The Club is voted in accordance with the preceding provisions of this byelaw, the committee shall proceed without delay to realise the value of the property of The Club and to discharge The Club's outstanding liabilities. Any net assets remaining shall be distributed to such recipient or recipients and in such fashion as the meeting shall have decided.
- a. If The Club has assets acquired in part or in full with grants from agencies such as the Lottery Sports Fund or Foundation for Sport and the Arts, those agencies should be informed of the proposed dissolution, for they have a right to recover a proportion of the current value of the assets.

## 11. Amendment

- i. These byelaws may only be amended in a General Meeting in accordance with the affirmative votes of a simple majority of at least 20% of those voting members of The Club who are present at the meeting.
- ii. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these byelaws, no amendment may be made to this byelaw or to byelaws 3, 10 and 12, unless prior to the meeting at which such amendment is proposed, an Officer or the Chief Executive of the British Sub-Aqua Club shall have notified the Branch in writing of the British Sub-Aqua Club's approval of the subject and text thereof.

## 12. British Sub-Aqua Club rules

These byelaws are made in compliance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association of the British Sub-Aqua Club, shall be subject to the provisions and requirements of that Article, and shall only be valid to the extent that they are not in conflict with the said provisions and requirements or with those of the Articles of Association of the British Sub-Aqua Club.

**Important Note:** Clubs must also comply with Article 86.(E) which requires that:

*“All boats (other than hand propelled watercraft) used by a Branch or by any member of the Club on Branch or Club activities must be insured for Third Party risks with a minimum indemnity limit of an amount stipulated by Council from time to time.”*

# Sudbury Scuba Club - Branch 0568 Byelaws

## Appendix A: BSAC Code of Conduct

1. BSAC is a members' organisation and all members, by accepting membership, agree to abide by the rules, regulations and policies of the organisation. The authority for this BSAC Code of Conduct is derived from the Articles of Association of the British Sub-Aqua Club.
2. The BSAC Code of Conduct includes the following and members are bound by it. The list is not exhaustive. All members shall:
  - a. Act in accordance with the law of the land
  - b. Comply fully with duly authorised authorities outside BSAC
  - c. Act in accordance with the BSAC Articles of Association, BSAC Safe Diving, rules training programmes, policies or guidance, and Branch byelaws.
  - d. Comply with BSAC training programmes when delivering and receiving training
  - e. Fulfil their obligations towards others by compliance with duty of care
  - f. Comply with BSAC Safeguarding policy
  - g. At no time bring BSAC into disrepute
  - h. Act in a manner that is consistent with the responsibilities and expectations of BSAC, as the National Governing Body for the sports of sub-aqua diving and snorkelling
  - i. Respect other scuba diving and snorkelling agencies and members thereof and avoid derogatory action or behaviour towards these
  - j. Be respectful of others outside the diving and snorkelling communities and uphold the good name of BSAC
  - k. Attempt to resolve disputes or complaints by dealing with these promptly, clarifying uncertainties and with use of good communication
  - l. Resolve disciplinary matters at a local level, wherever possible. Exceptions include safeguarding issues and criminal matters which have wider implications for BSAC
  - m. Fully cooperate with disciplinary and any other investigations
  - n. Take care not to involve themselves or BSAC in unauthorised activities
  - o. Declare any potential conflict of interest to the proper BSAC authorities
3. Failure to follow this BSAC Code of Conduct may result in disciplinary or other action being taken.